

School of Global Studies

Small Islands Developing States: The need for International Climate Change Action

Dissertation in Human Rights, 30 higher education credits

Spring Semester 2021 Author: Pone Shams Hakimi

Supervisor: Bart Klem Total of words: 19 674

Abstract

This thesis focuses on Small Islands Developing States, SIDS, and their need for international climate change action. The aim is to explore what arguments have been used to advocate for international action to support SIDS in their climate change challenges between 2007-2017. The Alliance of Small Islands States, AOSIS, have represented SIDS issues in international events since 1990. As SIDS are most vulnerable to the effects of climate change, such as sea-level rise and extreme weather events, they have been considered a special case for sustainable development by the United Nations. The data was collected from UN archives and included AOSIS documents provided to the UN at various events during the ten-year period. This qualitative research uses argumentation analysis and an independently developed theoretical framework inspired by the premises of Theories of Climate Justice. The findings reveal a moral foundation for all the AOSIS arguments, taking shape through ethical perspectives on climate change, operational suggestions for climate change action and reminders to fulfil diplomatic agreements on climate change. Three main themes emerged from the data: urging the international community to take responsibility for the damage they have caused SIDS through anthropogenic climate change; the need for collective climate change action to solve shared global concerns; and the SIDS need for the international community to follow through with international commitments made. In conclusion, SIDS remain in a state of existential crisis because of the unwillingness of the international community to follow through with commitments made. Still dependent on support and resources puts them in a powerless state to strive for their sustainable development, which effectively limits their chances of future survival.

Key words: SIDS, AOSIS, Human Rights, SDGs, Climate Change, international community, Climate Justice

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	4
	1.2. Problem formulation	5
	1.3 Aim & Research Questions	5
	1.4 Background	5
	1.5 Demarcations	6
	1.6 Thesis argument & relevance in the Human Rights field	7
	1.7 Structure of the thesis	8
2.	Previous Research	8
	2.1 Human Rights	8
	2.1.1. Human rights and climate change	9
	2.2 Climate Change	10
	2.2.1 Climate refugees vs. Climate justice & responsibility	11
	2.3 SIDS	12
	2.3.1 The International community & SIDS	13
	2.4 Research gap	15
3.	Theory	15
	3.1 Reflections on previous research in search for theory	15
	3.2 Baxi's Theories of Climate Justice	16
	3.3 Theoretical framework	17
4.	Methodology	18
	4.1 Research design, data collection and coding	18
	4.2 Source critique	19
	4.3 Analytical Method	20
	4.4 Reliability, validity and ethical considerations	20
	4.5 Methodological discussion	21
5.	Findings and analysis	22
	5.1 Climate debt – if you caused it, then you fix it.	22
	5.2 Global agendas – help protect our rights in face of a shared problem.	26
	5.3 Standing commitments – deliver on what you promised.	30
	5.4 Summary of Findings & Analysis	33
6.	Conclusions	34
	6.1 Conclusions of AOSIS arguments on supportive international action	34
	6.2 Reflective discussion on findings & analysis	35
	6.3 Considerations for future research	37
7.	References	39
	7.1 Empirical Sources	39
	7.2 General References.	40

Acknowledgements

I want to begin with expressing my deepest gratitude for my supervisor, Bart Klem, who has been invaluable to me with the generosity of his time, knowledge and guidance from start to end. I would also like to thank my dearest friends, family and partner for your love and support throughout the entire process. A special thank you to Beatrice Berg for your insightful suggestions and advice. Finally, I would like to extend my sincere thanks to the University of Gothenburg for granting me a scholarship for exchange studies at the University of West Indies, Jamaica, and to my professor Dr. Carol Nelson, for the insightful classes on climate change effects on Small Islands and the inspired conversations that sparked my interest for this research.

List of Abbreviations

AOSIS - Alliance of Small Islands Developing States

BPoA - Barbados Program of Action

CSD - Commission of Sustainable Development

IPCC - Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

MSI - Mauritius Strategy of Implementation

OWG - Open Work Group

SDG - Sustainable Development Goals

SIDS - Small Islands Developing States

TCJ -Theories of Climate Justice

UN - United Nations

UNFCCC - United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

UN-OHRLLS – United Nations Office of the High Representative for the Least Developed

Countries, Landlocked Developing Countries and Small Island Developing States

1. Introduction

There is a general agreement amongst scholars that the climate change challenges we face today are predominately anthropogenic. The greenhouse gas emissions, GHG, is one of the main contributors to climate change, which results in global warming that effectively melts the polar ice and generates sea-level rise (IPCC, 2007a: 2, 6). This effect endangers the economy, social life and environment globally (Richardson, 2009: 4), representing all three dimensions of sustainable development (UN Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific, 2015: 6).

Article 3 in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights claims everyone's "right to life, liberty and security of person" (UN General Assembly, 1948). Human rights are non-sustainable in the face of climate change (Caney, 2008: 537). As the world is facing the effects of climate change, the most vulnerable states, such as Small Islands Developing States or SIDS, must be considered, recognized and supported in order to survive the implications of unpredictable weather conditions. In 2007, The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC stated that Greenhouse gas emissions have increased by 70% percent due to human activity between 1970 and 2004, causing global warming of the earth by the rise of global temperature (IPCC, 2007a: 5). Ten years later, in 2017, the United Nations Development Program, UNDP, claimed that "no other group of nations is more vulnerable to its devastating effects than the Small Island Developing States" referring to climate change. The impacts that these countries have faced so far, while contributing to less than 1 % of the world's greenhouse gas emissions, have been harmful to the livelihoods of SIDS populations, their economies and food security. The United Nations Development Program addressed SIDS vulnerability in 2017 by demonstrative numbers. Almost 30% of SIDS populations live in areas where the sea-level and land have increased in proximity. SIDS also have uninhabitable land. These circumstances present that sea-level rise and the increase in frequency and intensity of hurricanes, cyclones and other weather events threatening the sustainable development of SIDS as sea-level rise, storm surges and coastal destruction are continued climate change events that weaken the longevity of SIDS (UNDP, 2017). The Alliance of Small Island States, AOSIS, voiced their concerns of SIDS at the UN and during international climate change negotiations (AOSIS, 2021). One of their greatest achievements has been to push to limit global temperature rise to below 1.5 C degrees at the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, which was later included in the Paris Agreement (Ourbak & Magnan, 2018).

1.2. Problem formulation

The future of Small Islands Developing States, SIDS, and their living conditions are under existential threat due to climate change, risking their populations' fundamental human rights of life, freedom and personal security, which all other human rights depend upon. As SIDS are most vulnerable to climate change, their survival is, to a large degree, dependent on how successful AOSIS are in international climate negotiations to bring about change for SIDS sustainable development. How successful AOSIS are in pushing for the interests of SIDS to advocate for international action, will impact the level of international support SIDS get in facing their climate change challenges.

1.3 Aim & Research Questions

The aim of this thesis is to explore what arguments AOSIS used between 2007-2017 to advocate international action for SIDS in facing their climate change challenges. Furthermore, the aim is to get an understanding of the fundamental needs of SIDS and the international communities' response to meet them.

1. What arguments does AOSIS use to advocate for international action to support SIDS in facing climate change?

1.4 Background

The Alliance of Small Island States, AOSIS, was created in Geneva, at the Second World Climate Conference, 1990. It is an intergovernmental organization with a coalition of 44 SIDS and 5 observer states with low-lying coasts (UN-OHRLLS, 2021). The platform is used to lift the marginalized voices of its members and advocate for SIDS interests. AOSIS plays a role in negotiating global commitments like reducing greenhouse gas emissions. The alliance reaches their goals through their partnerships, successful ones have been established with the European Commission and the United Nations Development Program. The purpose of these partnerships is to impact negotiations involving climate change. Through this platform, the collective voice of SIDS has been raised and heard in international climate talks. AOSIS core focus areas are Climate Change, Sustainable Development and Ocean Conservation (AOSIS, 2021). To ensure sustainable development, is to maintain the SIDS, as they have been recognized as a special case of sustainable development (UN, 2021a) in Rio de Janeiro, 1992, when pointing out SIDS "unique and particular vulnerabilities" (UN General Assembly, 2010: 1). AOSIS have created the SIDS Accelerated Modalities of Action, SAMOA pathway as a platform to address specific challenges concerning SIDS and is acknowledged as an essential part of the sustainability goals

of agenda 2030 (Un General Assembly, 2014: 3). Through AOSIS, SIDS have been actively and consistently involved in international negotiations such as the Kyoto protocol and the Climate Change Convention, ensuring that their position is accurately represented. AOSIS made contributions to the UN Conference on Environment and Development, UNCED, in Rio de Janeiro, 1992, in the Barbados Conference on the development of the UN Program of Action, BPoA, in 1994 and at the World Summit on Sustainable Development in Johannesburg in 2002. Together, AOSIS members represent 28% of all developing states (Slade, 2007: 217). Their negotiation standpoint and official submission is centered around preventative action as an essential principle alongside the principle of the 'polluter pays', duty to cooperate, state responsibility and the common but differentiated responsibility principle (ibid: 217; Ronneberg, 2016: 764, 766).

The specific vulnerabilities of SIDS result in circumstances that impede SIDS in maintaining their own survival and makes them highly dependent on outside support and a global response to their existential needs (Von Tigerstrom, 2005: 403, 412). AOSIS leaders and representatives have expressed their concerns to the UN regarding the industrialized states' inability to take responsibility for their significant contribution of global emissions to the environment. Their lack of action to ensure the sustainable survival and maintenance of SIDS is irresponsible in the eyes of these small islands that are so vulnerable to climate change (Corneloup & Mol, 2014: 292-293). For SIDS, there is a clear connection between the negative impacts of global warming which threatens the survival of their cultures and people, and their chances of sustainable living conditions. The frustration of SIDS lies in the international negotiations lack of appropriate direction and speed that is required to assist with the SIDS related climate change issues on sustainable development (Ashe, Van Lierop & Cherian, 1999: 218). The interdependence between human rights and environmental law is evident in the impacts of environmental degradation on the present and future enjoyment of human rights (Slade, 2007:217).

1.5 Demarcations

This thesis focuses exclusively on exploring the content of the arguments found in the AOSIS statements between the years 2007-2017. The empirical data will be retrieved from these statements. The purpose is to explore trends and patterns in the data that can answer the research question through the perspective of AOSIS to gain knowledge and insight on their position in the international community. Therefore, the findings of this thesis will not be generalized as the

common interest and concerns of AOSIS are limited to their specific geography, socioeconomic and environmental circumstances and resource capacity to face their climate change challenges. Limiting the research to AOSIS arguments exclusively keeps a SIDS-focus throughout the thesis which is needed due to their urgent climate change issues and vulnerability. To include other actors could potentially risk a divided and reduced focus on SIDS where several parties would need to be introduced and put in context equally. The possibility for a comprehensive representation needed for all parties included would be narrowed down, due to the thesis's word limitations.

This thesis will answer the research question through the findings and analysis from the collected data in the AOSIS statements as it explores the perspective of AOSIS exclusively. This is motivated by the fact that SIDS are the group most vulnerable to climate change and shedding light on their unique perspective in these matters is a valuable subject of research. The research design, theoretical framework and analytical method are chosen specifically to understand the content of the arguments and for the relevance of the aim and research questions. The literature and sources used in this thesis will contribute with knowledge and understanding of the context of climate change challenges and human rights challenges that SIDS face and the work of AOSIS in the international arena. It will also resonate with the fundamental human rights of the populations of SIDS in accordance with article 3 in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, "the right to life, liberty and security of person".

1.6 Thesis argument & relevance in the Human Rights field

The standpoint of AOSIS is important for the prospect of sustainable development, as their previous contributions to international accords can affirm. The support that is needed for SIDS to face their climate change challenges will be explored, presented, analyzed and reflected upon in regard to how it can contribute to future research. Choosing this area of research is motivated by the patterns of interconnectedness in human rights, climate change and sustainable development, in the context of SIDS. As climate change poses an existential threat for SIDS and their population's right to life, security and freedom is being compromised. Being acknowledged as a special case for sustainable development emphasizes and distinguishes SIDS as a priority for the international community to consider. In addition, the anthropogenic climate change as a phenomenon is an interesting and complex issue, relevant for the human rights field as people exercising the right to freedom in a developed country, taking uncontrolled

consumerism for example, has too often been at the expense of maintaining the security rights of people in developing countries, leading us to a conflict of interest between the three pillars of sustainable development: economic freedom vs. social and environmental sustenance. This aspect further contributes to the need for more interdisciplinary research of Human Rights and Climate Change, reflecting the strive for sustainability as the biggest challenge of our time, to achieve Sustainable Development Goal 13: climate change action, for Agenda 2030. This thesis argues that the future survival of SIDS, their populations and the human rights of their populations can only be ensured through 1. the international community following through with commitments made on SIDS sustainable development and 2. the continued development of action-based approaches proportional to the disastrous effects of climate change on SIDS are implemented with speed and urgency. This thesis also argues that in failing to do so, the international community is committing human rights violations, as the life, freedom and security of SIDS populations are at stake considering their climate change challenges.

1.7 Structure of the thesis

The chapter on previous research will present the topics related to the problem and provide context for the chosen area of research. The theory chapter will demonstrate the chosen theoretical framework and motivate its relevance for this thesis. Thereafter, the research design will be discussed and argued for, alongside the methodological tools explained in the methodology chapter. The findings and analysis chapter will present and analye the AOSIS arguments found in the data. The results from the findings and analysis will answer the research question of this thesis. Furthermore, the conclusive discussion will discuss and reflect on the findings of this thesis and their implications for future research.

2. Previous Research

This chapter will present previous research on Human Rights, Climate Change and SIDS. The topics will be discussed in relation to each other and critically reflected upon.

2.1 Human Rights

Human rights are first and foremost moral, then political and lastly legal (Bell, 2013: 159-162). In the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, UDHR, 1948, article 2 states that "no distinction shall be made based on the political, jurisdictional or international status of the country or territory to which a person belongs, whether it be independent, trust, non-self-governing or under any other limitation of sovereignty" and Article 15.1 claims every person's "right to a nationality" (UN General Assembly, 1948: Articles 2 and 15). The sovereignty of Small Island

States and their people are not only limited, but under existential threat as well as their nationality as islanders. These island states are dependent on the legislative nature of the International Law regime who have been unable to meet the challenges of statelessness presented by climate change for these vulnerable states. Although various sustainable development events have recognized the need to address SIDS' climate change challenges (Pineda, 2018: 3-16), this unmet need of SIDS creates a distinction between citizens of vulnerable island states and citizens of other countries who are not as affected by climate change. It becomes inevitable that the right to a nationality is dependent on the stability of state territory, which is at risk of vanishing for small island states due to sea-level rise.

In the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, UDHR, article 22, 25 and 28 all mention social security as a human right in need of consideration. While article 22 looks at national resources and international co-operation to ensure everyone's "economic, social and cultural rights", article 25.1 goes into greater detail, mentioning accessibility to health care necessary social services to secure circumstances where lack of livelihood is beyond one's control. Finally, article 28 requires a social and international order that can realize the content of the declaration for everyone's enjoyment of rights and freedoms (UN General Assembly, 1948: Articles 22, 25 and 28). Elson argues that although the human rights system does assist with resources to socially struggling countries, the obligation for governments to assist these struggling societies is rarely fulfilled (Elson, 2019: 8).

2.1.1. Human rights and climate change

In the field of moral and political philosophy as well as social and environmental science, there is a growing interest for a human rights approach on climate change. Several UN organs as well as moral political philosophers and legal scholars have taken interest in potential relation between climate change and human rights (Bell, 2013: 159-162).

There are three main arguments presented, one of them suggesting enabling a human right to an adequate environment. In contrast, another argument states that emitting GHG is in fact a human right, presenting two versions; the first one claiming the right to per capita emissions and the second version states the right to emit GHG for reasons of livelihood. The third and most popular one focuses on the general agreement that anthropogenic climate change has devastating effects on human life and human rights, especially states who are the most vulnerable to climate change (Bell, 2013: 1; Caney, 2009:69). It is the anthropogenic climate

change that arguably violates the human right to life where the right to health is also put at risk (Caney, 2009:79). The fourth Assessment of the International Panel on Climate Change, IPCC, states that anthropogenic climate change causes an increased tendency of diseases, floods and droughts, storms and fires, which inevitably affects the standard of human livelihood, health, movement and limits one's cultural identity and property (IPCC, 2007b: 31).

Vulnerable populations will lack the resources to adapt and become dependent on how well they can make their voices heard when advocating for international action (Caney, 2009:1). Small nations and other parties vulnerable to climate change have together provided the UN with a document pinpointing how climate change is in fact a human rights issue (Slade, 2007: 216). While the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, ICCPR, Article 1.2 states that "in no case may a people be deprived of its own means of subsistence" (ICCPR, 1966), the effects of anthropogenic climate change pose a direct threat to this sentence, as it threatens the right to life, the right to health and the right to subsistence. The source of these circumstances is widely acknowledged by the scientific community as anthropogenic, meaning other people's actions are causing the decrease of right accessibility for vulnerable populations (Caney, 2009: 9, 75, 81, 82). The function of a human rights approach is to view climate change through the perspective of people suffering from its effects. Making climate change a human rights issue has the benefit of presenting the issue as not only unsustainable but unacceptable. When shedding light on the fact that some people benefit at the expense of other people suffering, that is a harder reality to escape (Bell, 2013: 159-161).

2.2 Climate Change

According to the Mary Robinson Foundation definition, climate change:

"...links human rights and development to achieve a human-centered approach, safeguarding the rights of the most vulnerable people and sharing the burdens and benefits of climate change and its impacts equitably and fairly. Climate justice is informed by science, responds to science and acknowledges the need for equitable stewardship of the world's resources." (Mary Robinson Foundation, 2020).

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change holds human activity responsible for the GHG increase of 70% between 1970 to 2004, with annual emissions of carbon dioxide growing by 80%. The connection between global warming since the 1950s and anthropogenic GHG

emission is widely accepted above the notion that the reason would be exclusively due to natural changeability (IPCC, 2007a: 2-7).

Article 4.13 in the Paris Agreement promotes parties to take responsibility by limiting and reducing their GHG emissions. Additionally, mandatory promotion of transparent and consistent measures for the environment are to be expected (UNFCCC, 2015: 5).

Being the most imperative document for climate change, the Fifth IPCC Assessment Report estimates a sea-level rise between 25-82 centimeters by 2100 depending on whether a strict process of emission reduction will be followed- through. This poses an existential threat to Small Island States who will be significantly impacted by the sea-level rise as their state territory will be reduced following extreme weather events that severely damage the infrastructure and economic sources like agriculture, fisheries and tourism. Ocean acidification is another effect of human induced climate change, which inevitably damages marine life (Pineda, 2018: 3-16).

2.2.1 Climate refugees vs. Climate justice & responsibility

In 2007, international security got new concerns on how climate change may cause 'climate refugees' as it could potentially trigger large-scale refugee movements from poor societies to Europe and the United states. Hartmann argues that the 'climate refugee' narrative presents obstacles in international cooperation to be continued in a peaceful way with the needed development initiatives that are equitable and efficient for climate change action (Hartmann, 2010: 233-234).

Although proposals for a treaty to be developed to internationally protect 'climate refugees', there has been clear resistance to the concept of climate refugees. McAdam argues that there are difficulties in distinguishing which refugee is displaced due to climate change and which refugee is displaced for other reasons, which create issues in terms of correct legal application to each refugee's situation. Additionally, a treaty for 'climate refugees' would enable people displaced through climate change to become prioritized over displaced people due to other circumstances, like poverty. Furthermore, issues regarding the definition of 'climate change' could occur as a clear definition is needed for a legal framework but could potentially exclude some people in need of protection (McAdam, 2012: 187-188).

The Geneva conventions definition of a refugee does not encompass the circumstances of a 'climate refugee'. It refers only to an individual with reasons to fear persecution in their own

country if they would return, due to attributes like religion, race, nationality, a particular social group membership or a political opinion. Having climate change causing the loss of national protection creates a haze in determining when a national government has a responsibility to their citizens and when the international community has a responsibility towards people without protection. This poses a threat of future statelessness, specifically for Small Island States without proper adaptation or mitigation strategies. International law has not addressed these circumstances of states disappearing under water as there is no framework considering citizens of countries that are uninhabitable (Hsiao, 2017: 270 - 271).

In a written document provided to the UN, states vulnerable to climate change argue that industrialized countries bear the responsibility of reducing their fossil fuels since they are the largest contributors to anthropogenic climate change, creating social and environmental injustice (Slade, 2007: 216). It is perceived as a violation of human rights when the countries producing the largest amount of fossil fuels refuse to take responsibility. By doing so, they pave the way for future victims of climate change to not only include small islanders and natives of remote societies but mainlanders of larger states as well, who are not currently as affected by the human induced climate change (ibid: 216). The focus of international climate change negotiations, as is argued, should shift to consider the ones who suffer the consequences of climate change and to include prevention strategies. Climate Justice is a successful tool as it has empowered the Inuit and the Maldives, who are victims of climate change, to make their voices heard. Subsequently, climate change has come to be considered a human rights issue in need of a human rights approach (Bell, 2013: 159-162). Azar suggests taking responsibility for GHG emissions by incorporating emission fees as a form of tax. These taxes would then increase for the purpose of fulfilling the goal of reducing GHG emissions (Azar, 2009: 88).

2.3 SIDS

Small Island Developing States are the most vulnerable to the repercussions of climate change all while contributing the least. Having difficulties to adapt to extreme weather events poses an existential threat over SIDS, detrimental to their long-term survival (Slade, 2007:215). There are currently 52 territories defined as SIDS and 38 of these are UN members. The IPCC has paid SIDS extra attention recently due to their increased challenges of climate change (Baiamonte & Redaelli, 2017: 6). These states are located across three geographical regions: the Caribbean-Pacific-Atlantic region, the Indian Ocean region and the Mediterranean-South China Sea region. SIDS face difficulties in the social, economic and environmental realm. The

United Nations acknowledged SIDS as a "special case for sustainable development" in Rio de Janeiro, 1992, at the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development (UN-OHRLLS, 2017: 5). Included in the social realm is the cultural heritage and community of SIDS, which is also put at risk due to human induced climate change. Therefore, climate justice becomes relevant to consider as the cultural loss of SIDS is primarily unjust rather than exclusively unfortunate (Zellentin, 2015: 497).

The collective criteria for most SIDS are many although each Island has their own unique circumstances. Wong highlights 8 features that the majority of SIDS share regarding sea level rise and climate change; limited physical territories, weak institutional capacity, poor climate change adaption capacity, high population density in proportion to land resources, high exposure to extreme weather events, limited water supplies, fragile ecosystems and threatened biodiversity (Wong, 2011: 2). Due to their geographical location, SIDS are positioned as frontlines of extreme weather events like hurricanes and floods. As small islands state, SIDS are poorly equipped to combat the crisis of climate change all the while most vulnerable, being surrounded by the ocean. Consequently, the life support systems, territory and economic activity of SIDS are limited. According to recurring SIDS statements, these circumstances arise from issues of equity and survival (Slade, 2007: 215). Although SIDS face these difficulties, Betzold views islanders as particularly resilient, having had generational experience of adapting to the environmental and social alternations of climate change. Despite their awareness and perception, the lack of resources are obstacles between SIDS current state and their sustainable development. To overcome these obstacles, the resources and knowhow must be provided locally (Betzold, 2015: 481, 487).

2.3.1 The International community & SIDS

Alongside advocating to limit the temperature rise of 1.5 C above pre industrial levels in international climate change negotiations (Betzold, Castro & Weiler, 2012: 592), the adoption of Agenda 21 in Rio de Janeiro in 1992 effectively increased SIDS' position internationally. At the Barbados Program of Action, 1994, SIDS were in the public eye as the implementation of Agenda 21 was taking place. The plan was later reviewed in Mauritius, 2005, at the Mauritius Strategy of Implementation. SIDS had changed their international position within two decades, from being viewed as tropical tourist islands to international actors that challenge the concept of sustainability, bringing international attention to the implication of climate change. AOSIS have emerged as a united body for the SIDS in climate change negotiations in order to elevate SIDS influence. Leading with the concept that 'no island should be left behind', AOSIS pressed

for political action and demanded a general adaptation act to include insurance in Poznan, 2008 (Wong, 2011: 2). However, efforts to address "leaving no one behind", which represents the agenda 2030 promises for the achievement of the SDG's (UN, 2021d) have been deemed as misguided. The World Bank for example, has been criticized for operating from an institutional level instead of a local level, using terms as "shared prosperity" to promote SGD 10 when the need is to reduce the income gap and increase economic equality (Saiz & Donald, 2017:1029, 1030). Both Wong, Saiz and Donald mention the SIDS initiative on not leaving any Islands behind. While Wong focus on AOSIS pressing to implement the idea, Saiz and Donald address the problematic ways in which this principle has been implemented. The question arises of the overall satisfaction of AOSIS on matters of implementation measures taken to meet their needs by international actors, as such research is lacking.

Scholars have also conducted research on AOSIS by interviewing its members on issues emerging from climate change negotiation processes. The main objective was to explore if the cohesiveness of the alliance has changed or remained the same over the years due to fragmentations occurring in negotiations. Results show how AOSIS maintains a strong union in international climate change negotiations despite fragmentation within the alliance (Betzold, Castro & Weiler, 2012: 592, 607). Although the research does mention the many contributions of AOSIS to climate change negotiations, it does not cover the cases AOSIS have made over the years to promote international action and how well these have been answered.

SIDS need international assistance to develop adequate adaptation projects. Previous SIDS designs of adaptation projects have often failed due to lack of proper technology, accurate data, weak institutions and budgets, funded by regional and international bodies (Kostakos, Zhang & Veening, 2014: 5). One issue emerged as a conflict of interest due to the rules of intellectual property rights that benefit the developed countries but effectively stagnate the technology transfer to SIDS, which they urgently need as means of survival due to their disastrous climate change challenges (UNDP, 2010: 24). Measures taken by the international community do not have lasting effects and are not adequate measures to meet the needs of SIDS. It is argued that the international community should do more in terms of financial support and to provide reliable and innovative solutions for SIDS (Baiamonte & Redaelli, 2017: 6, 16). Brandstedt & Brüle explain one aspect of the international communities inadequate and short-term solutions as the radical position that powerful states sometimes take, displaying unwillingness to answer to "any moral considerations and base their decisions about what climate actions to commit to (if any) solely on what is in their short-term national self-interest" (Brandstedt & Brüle, 2019:788).

2.4 Research gap

Previous research has covered some ground on SIDS and AOSIS regarding their contributions to climate change negotiations and exploring the strength of their coalition within the alliance. Many articles also cover the discussion of the need for a legal 'climate refugee' framework from various angles. However, there has been little research on what position AOSIS, the representative organ of SIDS, take in these matters, how they voice their concerns, seek international support and what their concerns include. This thesis focuses on arguments used in AOSIS statements and explores the issues that the alliance presents to the UN. The objective of this thesis is to explore what arguments the alliance uses to advocate for international action to support SIDS in facing climate change.

3. Theory

This chapter will present the chosen theoretical framework based on previous research. The principles of the theoretical framework will be presented, and their usefulness as theoretical tools explained.

3.1 Reflections on previous research in search for theory

A large part of previous research discusses climate justice and responsibility and ties together human rights and climate change, which focus the attention to the most vulnerable, SIDS. As most climate change disasters affecting SIDS's territory and people are caused by human-activity, the question of responsibility is tightly connected to accountability, to pave the way for climate justice action (Graham, Barnett, Fincher, Montreux & Hurlimann, 2015). Further, it is argued that the injustice gap between states' environmental, social and economic terms needs to be understood through their historical roots (Storr, 2016: 528). However, the lack of a definition for climate justice creates stagnation in the process (Meikle, Wilson & Jafry, 2016: 1).

The previous research highlights a couple of elements to consider in the search for relevant theory: the need for climate justice for vulnerable states, industrialized states with largest GHG emissions being responsible for climate change and therefore responsible to provide climate justice, the intrinsic relationship of human rights and climate change, for history of injustice to be considered and the stagnation process caused by lack of a common 'climate justice' definition. As the concept of 'climate justice' lacks a definition, choosing any climate justice theory would lack proper motivation. Therefore, using Baxi's seven premises on Theories of

Climate Justice is an appropriate alternative to developing a theoretical framework from, as it includes the features that many Theories of Climate justice have in common. They address responsibility by taking action, developing approaches for sustainable development for vulnerable states such as SIDS, intergenerational justice and constantly developing theory based on new climate negotiations as important features of Climate justice.

3.2 Baxi's Theories of Climate Justice

Several theoretical perspectives offer relevant insights to the subject of this thesis. However, a theory of Climate Justice reflects the voices of SIDS and enables a distribution of responsibility to actors with the power and resources to protect the earth's life systems. A theoretical framework that encompasses both human rights and environmental rights through climate change action is arguably most relevant, based on findings in previous research. Baxi's presentation of Theories of Climate Justice, TCJ, had seven premises suitable to theorize what arguments AOSIS uses to advocate international action to support SIDS climate change challenges. The goal of policies of climate justice is to eliminate GHG emissions. The concept of intergenerational justice was also highlighted as generally agreed upon in the field of climate justice, where scholars argue that "persistence of greenhouse gases is a past, present and future wrong that must now be somehow addressed" (Baxi, 2016: 19-26).

The theoretical framework of this thesis draws on the seven premises of TCJ identified by Baxi and distils the four premises that I deem most relevant for this thesis. To distinguish the theoretical framework from the premises that Baxi mentions, the following section presents Baxi's seven premises of TCJ.

The first premise stresses that the life systems of planet earth are threatened and needs saving from complete extinction. Second, saving the earth systems is every nations and peoples responsibility and concern, regarding the cause and effects of these issues. Third, our moral responsibilities, legal duties and collective and individual human rights need to be reaffirmed, to encompass respect for our common but differentiated responsibilities and concerns. Fourth, TCJ needs to move away from a human-centered perspective to further consider the environment. Fifth, TCJ are required to acknowledge common and rare climate issues of different societies and develop new approaches with special attentiveness to the adversities of Small Island Developing States, one of them being aid issues. This premise argues that utilitarian approaches have not been successful in encouraging the climate change action needed. Therefore, the approaches needed require new ways of developing concern for human

and species well-being and survival. Sixth, the impact of social movements, contributing new approaches adopted by TCJ have been fruitful. The last premise refers to how TCJ relates to and analyzes the changes in climate negotiations and regards emerging mediator and national policy needs, stressing the necessity to connect theory to practice (Baxi, 2016: 20-21).

3.3 Theoretical framework

This thesis uses the first and second TCJ premise of Baxi, that the earth's life systems need saving from complete extinction and that all human beings are equally responsible to do so with the means they acquire. These premises together provide an overarching basis for the other premises and are suitable to set the foundation for the theoretical framework. The third, fifth and seventh premise will, through independent interpretation, create the three principles of Climate Justice that sums up the theoretical framework of this thesis. These principles all have a moral basis, with principle two and three urging for the need of operational measures to be taken. The function of the principles is to explore the elements of Climate Justice in the AOSIS arguments. This, in order to analyze the standpoint of AOSIS on certain climate change issues as well as reflect upon the aim of their arguments, in light of their audience, which is the UN, including the international community. The following section presents the three premises of Baxi, developed into three Climate Justice principles included in the theoretical framework.

Premises	Interpretation	Principles
Third: Our moral	Our moral and legal duty is	One: The actors contributing
responsibilities, legal duties	protecting human and	most to GHG emissions, which
and collective and individual	environmental rights by	negatively impact the past,
human rights needs to be	implementing international	present and future enjoyment
reaffirmed, to encompass	commitments – reducing GHG	of human rights, are the ones
respect for our common but	emissions and achieving SDGs.	responsible and expected to
differentiated responsibilities	We need to distinguish	contribute with solutions for
and concerns	responsibilities of developed	Climate Change.
	and developing states, based on	
	climate change contributions,	
	their resources and expertise.	
Fifth: TCJ needs to	Acknowledging different	Two: New approaches are to be
acknowledge common and rare	society's climate change issues	developed to protect human
climate issues of different	distinguishes which societies	rights and environmental rights

againties and dayslan navy	and most ruln anable and needs	of the planet Doutionley party
societies and develop new	are most vulnerable and needs	of the planet. Particularly, new
approaches with special	to be prioritized, like SIDS.	approaches for SIDS are to be
attentiveness to the adversities	Special approaches and aid	prioritized, promoting action-
of Small Island Developing	should therefore be developed	based support to provide SIDS
States, one of them being aid	and provided to SIDS to better	with aid.
issues.	face climate change issues.	
Seventh: TCJ relates to and	TCJ is constantly updated in	Three: Climate Justice is action
analyze the changes in climate	relation to new climate	oriented to and is about
negotiations and regards	negotiations, mediator and	mobilizing change through new
emerging mediator and	national policy needs. To	climate negotiations and
national policy needs, stressing	analyze climate negotiation	international agreements for
the necessity to connect theory	changes, the theories need to be	concerning actors to follow and
to practice.	applied to relevant events.	implement.

The motivation for the choice of using Climate Justice derives from the unfair burdens of SIDS, calling for a theory that represents their voices.

4. Methodology

This chapter presents the methods and materials of this thesis, going through the research process, collection of data and coding, source critique, analytical method, ethical considerations, validity and reliability as well as methodological discussion.

This thesis uses a qualitative research method. The choice for a qualitative method over quantitative method is motivated through the character of the aim and research question. A qualitative method is suitable for an explorative thesis which enables deeper understanding of SIDS-specific experiences where quantitative data would face difficulties doing so (Seale, Gobo, Gubrium & Silverman, 2007). According to McCracken, qualitative research must consider the researcher as an influential instrument in the research, affecting the data collection process, coding and analysis in significant ways (McCracken, 1998:18-22).

4.1 Research design, data collection and coding

The research design of this uses an inductive approach (Bryman, 2016: 19). It is explorative in expanding the scope that previous research has covered. Motivating the chosen approach, is by comparison with the linear structure of a deductive research design and how it would limit the

space to explore and increase the risk of uninformed assumptions. An inductive approach allows the researcher to change the focus of the research based on new and more relevant theoretical and empirical findings. This thesis tested the usefulness of the theoretical framework by application on sections of the findings before making a choice of theory (Bryman, 2016: 25). Using an inductive approach also allows the analysis to be based on the experiences of the research subjects. The process of finding themes and concepts in the data worth analyzing usually includes detailed and thorough back and forth reading. An inductive approach produces findings directly through analysis rather than from hypothesis (Azungah, 2018: 391). This thesis adopts this approach.

The collected data includes arguments from around 50+ AOSIS documents called "statements" between 2007-2017 found in an UN archive. The data collected comprises the lines of argument found in these documents. The most recurring themes and concepts in the arguments were divided into six categories. The process of coding had three phases: open color-coding method to separate one code from another, followed up by focused coding method that evaluates which codes can merge under one category, and lastly identify the categories with titles that best reflect the code contents (Bryman, 2016: 574).

4.2 Source critique

Different members of AOSIS have written statements to the Secretary General about their common concerns, to shed light on their issues as SIDS and to advocate for international action to support their case over the years. The United Nations is the recipient of these statements. Used as primary sources, the data collected from these AOSIS statements serve the same purpose as data collected from interviews (Leth & Thurén, 2000: 23), although without the precolored views of an interviewer, decreasing biased data collection and again, increasing authenticity. The time period of the ten-year span between 2007-2017 gives space to identify which arguments are most characteristic to AOSIS and their cause as well as trends and patterns in their arguments (ibid: 23). The statements have clear standpoints and can be compared to other statements within the ten-year period to identify patterns of argumentation that may differ from previous years, decreasing the risk of tendency. The credibility of the data is considered high as all the statements were found in an UN archive (ibid: 26-31).

These statements are written by political figures in respective SIDS like prime ministers and other actors, writing on behalf of their countries to voice their concerns to the UN Secretary

General. These statements and the context in which they are written are the best sources at hand to draw valid conclusions (Schaefer & Alvesson, 2020: 35).

4.3 Analytical Method

Since the aim, research questions and collected data of this thesis focus on the arguments of AOSIS, the chosen analytical method is descriptive argumentation analysis. This method is used to reconstruct the arguments found in the AOSIS documents by drawing out and putting together segments of text that belong to the same line of reasoning, demonstrating an argumentation that would otherwise be scattered in different places in the text (Bergström & Boréus, 2019: 93-94). There are central concepts of argumentation analysis that explain the parts that make up an argumentation. This paper will be using the following concepts as needed to bring out the essence of the arguments, to understand the standpoint of AOSIS on various issues that ties to climate change.

- ❖ *Argumentation* is a constellation of reasons made up of arguments, statements and premises, presented to advocate for a standpoint.
- ❖ *Statements* are the pillars of argumentation. It is something one claims with the purpose to convince other people that it holds truth.
- * Thesis is the central statement of why the argumentation is initially taking place. It explains what the argument or twist is about.
- ❖ *Premises* are steps that lead to a logical conclusion. Something that is accepted as common knowledge, whether it is a statement or a fact. The function of premises is to work as links between statements or arguments (Bergström & Boréus, 2019: 100-103).

4.4 Reliability, validity and ethical considerations

Reliability explains the compatibility of the analytical method and the collected data. Validity compares the findings with the collected data to measure accuracy. Validity is also used to prove qualitative research methods' level of quality (Seale, Gobo, Gubrium & Silverman, 2004: 8-10). The collected data is made up of arguments made by AOSIS. Choosing argumentation analysis provides the concepts relevant for analyzing arguments that makes up the empirical data. Argumentation analysis also goes well hand in hand with the inductive research design as the findings would emerge directly from the analysis without needing a hypothesis (Azungah, 2018: 391).

The quality of the analysis depends on how effective the research method and analytical method is for the collected data and overall paper. Usually, the qualitative research method consists of

the researchers collecting data from conducted interviews, which often includes common factors that can decrease the quality of the research, like misunderstandings leading to inaccurate interpretation of data. Positionality is another problematic factor in interviews. It explains the standpoint from which one's experience is based on criteria like history, language, culture, gender and sexuality. There benefits of a researcher who does not share the same narrative as its research subject, is bias mitigation in the findings (McCracken, 1998: 18, 22). However, coming from a different standpoint also means lack of contextual understanding of the research subject, which can cause misrepresentation in the data and analysis. This research uses written AOSIS statements as empirical data, eliminating the factors of positionality, misunderstandings and misinterpretations as they only notably interfere and influence the data within the realms of interviews. This leaves little room for biased data collection since the empirical data consists of AOSIS statements rather than produced through conducted interviews, securing the quality and validity to this thesis.

However, the positionality of the researcher remains. The researcher and the research subjects have different worldviews. Being a citizen of Sweden, prejudice and pre-understanding is mixed up on knowledge of SIDS and their living conditions socially, culturally, economically and environmentally. The recent experience of exchange studies at the University of West Indies in Jamaica, a SIDS and AOSIS member, did however bring new insights on how climate change affects islanders' living conditions. This thesis considers that exchange studies cannot compensate for the lack of common context between researcher and research subject. However, having experienced a SIDS society and education forms on climate change for university students is beneficial in navigating relevant aim and research questions. Nonetheless, the lack of pre-understanding and deeper contextual knowledge of the research subject are factors that affect the quality of the thesis.

4.5 Methodological discussion

Using the analytical method and theoretical framework for the first time affects the quality of analysis as the writer was getting familiar with the tools while using them, causing the quality of analysis to grow gradually throughout the chapter rather than being at one level consistently, throughout the findings and analysis. This is to be expected in qualitative research as the researcher is an influential instrument in the research (McCracken, 1988: 18-22). The usefulness of argumentation analysis was measured by how effectively it reconstructed an argumentation that could draw out the standpoint of AOSIS arguments.

The search for an already developed and suitable theoretical framework of Climate Justice for this thesis was not successful. However, Baxi's seven premises of Theories of Climate Justice, were resourceful in unexpected ways, as it covered the main characteristics of TCJ relevant for this thesis, which allowed the researcher to develop a theoretical framework. Despite the lack of guidelines on how to properly develop a theory, the theoretical framework served an adequate functional purpose applied to the empirical data. In addition, the researcher did test out the theoretical framework on a set of different arguments to estimate its usefulness before writing the findings and analysis section.

The difficulty of inductive coding and organizing such a large amount of data was the time-consuming method of reading back and forth to find trends, patterns and recurrent phrases, statements and premises (Bryman, 2016: 574). Defining the common but different traits of each category and deciding stronger versus weaker relation of each code to each other needed careful weighing and logical reasoning, redefining codes several times (ibid: 574). The motivation to use the inductive coding method was in following the overall inductive research design of this thesis. In hindsight, using a more systematic coding method like thematic coding might have created a more reliable coding process as it consists of more guidelines (Gibbs, 2018: 4-8).

5. Findings and analysis

The findings are categorized under three themes: 1. Climate debt - If you caused it, you fix it, 2. Global agendas — help protect our rights in face of a shared problem and 3. Standing commitments — deliver on what you promised. The quotes retrieved from the data are made up of reconstructed arguments, put together into paragraphs to demonstrate the standpoints of AOSIS on each issue presented. The quotes are retrieved from over forty AOSIS documents called "statements". The findings, presented as quotes, reflect the general tendencies in the data and are standing examples of the line of reasoning in the AOSIS statements between 2007-2017, including recurring arguments, concepts and sentences.

The principles of Climate Justice will be applied accordingly to the three themes in the findings. Principle one relates to the first theme, principle two to the second theme and principle three to the third theme.

5.1 Climate debt – if you caused it, then you fix it.

This section analyzes arguments that relate to the international community's responsibility to fix the climate change issues that they have caused for SIDS, implying climate injustice.

At the 15th session of the Commission on Sustainable Development, Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting, 28th of February 2007, AOSIS points out the disproportionality of SIDS'contribution to climate change and SIDS' vulnerability to the effects of climate change:

"The adverse effects of climate change, and associated phenomena including sea-level rise and the increase in frequency and intensity of hurricanes, cyclones and other weather events threaten the sustainable development, livelihoods and existence of SIDS, despite our negligible contribution to the problem." (AOSIS, 2007a: 1).

The thesis of the arguments seems to revolve around climate injustice as the argumentation reveals that SIDS have done little to nothing to contribute to their vulnerable circumstance, implying that other actors are responsible for climate change causing an existential threat for SIDS. As discussed in my theoretical framework, principle one supports the argumentation and stresses that the actors with the largest GHG emissions that helped cause climate change are the ones responsible to solve the problem.

On May 5th, 2008 at the 16th session of the CSD, AOSIS addressed the lack of representation and equal opportunity for SIDS in the international market:

"Our economic prospects have deteriorated with the loss of traditional markets and with competitive pressures of globalization [...] International Financial Institutions must now go further in recognizing the twin economic and environmental vulnerabilities of SIDS [...] We note also that international obligations mandated to address the new security concerns have created particular difficulties for SIDS; and some trade rules and other protectionist measures against SIDS are undermining the economic competitiveness of many SIDS, financial services being one such area." (AOSIS, 2008a: 3-4).

The protectionist measures against SIDS serve as premises for the deteriorated economies of SIDS, revealing the international community's power over SIDS economies. The argumentation reveals a possible solution by turning the arguments around: how including SIDS in the international market would increase their economy, which also increases their capacity to handle their environmental vulnerabilities due to the interconnectedness of SIDS economic-environmental vulnerabilities. The international community's continued exclusion of SIDS from the global market would further expose them to climate disaster, which prosperous global players are, in large part, responsible for causing. The vulnerable position of SIDS emerged from anthropogenic climate change, the result of international actors' GHG emissions, making them responsible and accountable, to help SIDS build stronger economic

and environmental stability, as principle one of Climate Justice implies. However, the lack of such inclusion suggests a non-effort and intentional disregard from the international community to improve the circumstances of SIDS, moving towards climate injustice. It is assumed that the "trade rules and protectionist's measures against SIDS" are enforced by the same state actors that are responsible for most GHG emissions.

On May 12th, 2008, the AOSIS Statement Opening of SIDS Day CSD-16 expressed their concern on the harmful consumer culture.

"unsustainable patterns of production and consumption have given rise to this problem of Climate Change. A consumer culture has evolved with scant regard for the environment. This culture must be replaced by a culture of citizenship – where citizens have both rights and responsibilities [...] We urge the entire UN community to exercise this spirit of citizenship by taking greater responsibility for the impact of Climate Change on the vulnerable economies." (AOSIS, 2008c: 2).

The statement on unsustainable consumer culture highlights the adverse effects of climate change. The notion of the UN community taking greater responsibility reflects principle one of Climate Justice. The argumentation implies that unsustainable patterns of production and consumption have caused climate change, which enables a discussion of climate debt within the international community. Principle one states that actors with largest volumes of GHG emissions have caused climate change and are therefore responsible to fix the problem, in accordance with the "polluter pays" principle used as an essential element of AOSIS arguments (Slade, 2007:217). Conclusively, the GHG emissions are, in large part, connected to the unsustainable patterns of consumption leading to a consumer culture that is harmful for the environment and for the SIDS populations. Principle one further argues that the biggest GHG emitters of the international community are held accountable to create a culture of citizenship, taking into consideration vulnerable economies like SIDS. Today, SDG 12, *Responsible Consumption & Production*, serves as a response to the unsustainable patterns of production and consumption that SIDS addressed in 2008 (UN, 2021b). Whether the international community has taken their responsibility and fulfilled SDG 12 by 2030 remains a future result.

On the same day, at the AOSIS Statement Opening of SIDS Day CSD-16, the alliance addressed their dislike of the two important events overlapping:

"We have registered our disappointment on the overlap between SIDS day and Water and Sanitation [...] The General Assembly gave a mandate for the devotion of one day of the CSD for the SIDS... The SIDS symbolizes the frontline of the fight against Climate Change [...] we have, for 20 years, been drawing the attention of the global community to the challenges of Climate Change. So, to bury SIDS day, is to bury the evangelists of Climate Change. And to bury the Climate Change issue is to commit the SIDS to a burial by sea." (AOSIS, 2008c: 4-5).

The thesis of the argumentation is clear; SIDS need a whole day to cover and advocate for their issues, as promised, to address the urgent measures needed to combat their climate change challenges. It also implies that without this opportunity, their voices will not have a platform to be heard or given fair representation. Considering previous argumentation on how an unsustainable consumer culture has given rise to climate change, the need for international support on such matters is imperative to address on SIDS day. As climate change threatens SIDS' future survival, failing to provide SIDS with a whole day of addressing their existential issues, caused by actors in the international community, implies indifference regarding SIDS survival and further increases the climate debt of the international community. Principle one of Climate Justice argues that SIDS issues are the international community's issues, and they are expected to right their wrongs, which in this case would be to provide SIDS with enough time on SIDS day to voice their concerns, for the international community to attend, listen and implement the changes needed to secure SIDS future survival considering their climate change issues.

In sum, the protectionist measures leading to SIDS exclusion of the global market, weaken their economic and environmental resilience and increase their vulnerability to climate change, revealing SIDS interdependent relationship between the economic-environmental vulnerability and climate change vulnerability. The display of power imbalance becomes clear, as the international community has the means to decide to include or exclude SIDS, which effectively determines their sustenance in the long run. In addition, SIDS are dependent on the international community to transform the unsustainable consumer culture to a sustainable culture of citizenship, all in order to reduce the GHG emissions that enable sea-level rise and other climatic changes which pose a threat to the future survival of SIDS. Adding up the intrinsic vulnerabilities of SIDS with their dependency on the international community to reduce the cause of anthropogenic climate change – GHG emissions – the limitations of SIDS day portrays an indifference of the international community regarding SIDS future survival. Considering the

miniscule contributions of SIDS to climate change in comparison to the GHG emissions of the international community only goes to show that taking responsibility for the devastation caused is not a quality that the international community aspires towards.

5.2 Global agendas – help protect our rights in face of a shared problem.

This theme differs from the previous as the data consist of more statements than arguments. These statements provided to the UN, in the shape of policy options that SIDS need implemented by the international community, will be presented through a timeline from 2007-2017.

On February 28th, 2007, at the Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting for the CSD-15 New York, AOSIS listed policy options for the international community to:

"Support SIDS in the development and implementation of national climate change action plans through the provision of new and additional resources, technical assistance and capacity building; Assist SIDS to incorporate climate change adaptation concerns in national sustainable development plans; Provide technical and financial resources to assist SIDS to strengthen national and regional national climate change coordination mechanisms such as the Caribbean Community Climate Change Center (CCCCC), and the Pacific Climate Change Roundtable; Provide technical support in areas of disaster preparedness, risk management and disaster mitigation; Develop new financial arrangements including a SIDS climate change funding facility to provide insurance to SIDS to recoup losses due to the impacts of climate change and sea level rise; Improve access to, and transfer of, environmentally sound technology related to climate change" (AOSIS, 2007a:1-2).

The policy options listed demonstrate a strong need for various kinds of aid, like principle two of Climate Justice argues. The policy options of AOSIS emphasize the feature of the second principle on new approaches needed. The approaches that would promote protection of human rights could be implemented through financial and technical assistance and support for disasters and adaptation, capacity building and accessibility to financial funds. The only suggestion that explicitly considers environmental rights is the one on accessibility to "environmentally sound technology". With principle two of Climate Justice applied, the policy options show how the SIDS are prioritizing human rights over environmental rights, which reflects the urgent need of aid to maintain human life, freedom and security (UN General Assembly, 1948). It is also a reminder of how the basic human rights of SIDS are under existential threat due to

anthropogenic climate change. This has been stated in previous research, although adding the human rights element addresses the void of responsibility that needs to be taken through action-based support for the societies whose human rights are most needed but least claimable – SIDS.

At the Agriculture Plenary session of the Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting for the 17th Meeting of the Commission on Sustainable Development on February 27th, 2009, expectations regarding international policy responses to climate change were declared in an AOSIS statement, urging the international community to:

"Support climate vulnerability analysis for all food production sectors in SIDS; Support the efforts of SIDS to diversify agricultural production system to adapt to climate change; Ensure new, additional and predictable resources are provided to SIDS to address the impact of climate change: Support the establishment of research and monitoring institutions, and support for MSI implementation, and programs for boosting, renewable energy production and reducing vulnerability to disasters [...] Support the integration of climate change adaptation strategies with land, watershed, and coastal zone management; Engage in re-forestation, sustainable land use, zoning and other sustainable measures to improve resilience to climate change;" (AOSIS, 2009b: 1-2).

The policy options presented, much like previous policy options of 2007, revolve around aid for SIDS in various ways, like principle two of Climate Justice implies. Focusing on developing food production and adaptation of diverse agricultural production in light of climate change demonstrates the need for a sustainable approach to ensure food security and agricultural stability. The difference between these policy options and the ones presented earlier (AOSIS,2007a:1) is a more even distribution of policy option between human rights and environmental rights: food and agricultural production serving human rights and providing renewable energy, integrating adaptation strategies with the management of land, coastal and watershed zones and engaging in reforestation to ensure environmental rights.

During the Opening Session of the 2nd Inter-Sessional Meeting of the United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development, New York, 15 December 2011, AOSIS stated that:

"The UNCSD RIO+20 should identify a framework of action of implementation of commitments and should move the sustainable development agenda forward taking into account the renewed political commitment and assessment of gaps in the implementation." (AOSIS, 2011).

The call for a framework of implementation reflects the new approaches needed for SIDS, to provide the aid needed, pointed out in principle two of Climate Justice. The policy options of earlier years (AOSIS, 2007a:1; AOSIS, 2009b: 1-2), suggest various kinds of aid that SIDS need for a more sustainable development. Combining previous years' policy options with an action-based framework of implementation reflects a situation where the policy options suggested have yet to be implemented.

At the 5th Session of the OWG-SDG on Macroeconomic Policy November 26, 2013, AOSIS argued that:

"International support for financing (concessionary loans or grants) need to be accessible, predictable, and efficient in order to have resounding positive impact on SIDS fragile economies, and create meaningful employment, generate income, and build resilience against external shocks [...] SIDS could benefit significantly from capital flow from abroad, which can be official development assistance from development partners, long-term international loans, as from the World Bank, foreign private investment, medium and short-term loans from commercial banks, or medium- and short-term loans from the International Monetary Fund (IMF)." (AOSIS, 2013).

The argumentation points out how accessibility, predictability and efficiency of financial support from the international community is a precondition or SIDS to secure and grow their economies and create meaningful employment. Listing the various financial sources above demonstrates SIDS awareness of the many actors and institutions that have the means to provide financial aid for SIDS, as principle two of Climate Justice argues.

At the Talking Points Session on Means of Implementation on the post-2015 development agenda Targets 21 April 2015, AOSIS addressed the many development challenges of SIDS:

"We recognize that our persistent development challenges require an enhanced global partnership for development, adequate provision and mobilization of financing from all sources, domestic and international, public and private, the facilitation or trade, technology transfer, capacity building, and an enabling institutional and policy environment at all levels, as well as strengthened partnerships at the national, regional and international level [...] And while we recognize that financing from all sources is important, the most critical source of financing remains international public financing." (AOSIS, 2015a: 1).

Here, AOSIS stresses the importance of international public financing and strengthened global partnerships for development. This argument implies a lack of financial aid as well as weak existing partnerships. Principle two applied argues that new possible approaches for the human and environmental rights and aid needs of SIDS could be developed through strengthened partnerships.

At the Preparatory Meeting of the United Nations Conference to Support the Implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 14: Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources for sustainable development 15 February 2017, AOSIS stressed that:

"The Call for Action must [...] serve as a testament to the political will of the global community to achieving SDG 14. This means that we must focus on the concrete and actionable activities that could be undertaken [...] SIDS are at the forefront of facing marine pollution and ocean acidification, and we see the Call for Action as a critical opportunity to demonstrate our strong collective political commitment to addressing these issues [...] It should also emphasize the need for capacity building and transfer of technology to small islands, and also highlight the necessity to mobilize sufficient means of implementation when it comes to achieving the targets for SDG 14 [...] Additionally, it should include a call for sustainable and predictable support for efforts that aim at enhancing the resilience of the oceans, especially in areas of particular importance for biodiversity, ecosystem services and areas that are sensitive to ocean acidification, such as coral reefs. (AOSIS, 2017: 1-2).

The statement in the first sentence displays the need for, and lack of, proof of the political will necessary to achieve SDG14. It also relays that political will is the missing component, the premise of which the resilience of the oceans can be achieved. Applying principle two of Climate Justice, the new approaches needed are urged to focus on protecting environmental rights, which in this case corresponds to the Call for Action which includes capacity building and technology transfer to SIDS alongside other means of implementation necessary to achieve SDG14. Consistent with principle two of Climate Justice, all statements besides 2011 address the need for aid, specifically related to capacity building, financial support, technical resources and transfers to deal with climate change challenges. The challenges from 2007 address "disaster preparedness, risk management and disaster mitigation". In 2009, AOSIS presented a similar statement, "reducing vulnerability to disasters". In 2013, financial support was requested to "build resilience against external shocks". These three statements essentially focus

on the same issue that recur in different phrasings over the years – SIDS vulnerability to climate disaster and building resilience to face climate change challenges. In 2011, AOSIS addressed how a framework for implementation of commitments should be developed to drive the sustainable development agenda (AOSIS, 2011b). As stated before, there is a strong connection between climate change and sustainable development as the implications of climate change threatens sustainable development, affecting SIDS the most (UNDP, 2017). The subject of implementation resurfaced in 2017 as a "Call for Action" regarding SDG 14.

The patterns of this theme are presented as AOSIS urging the international community to take climate change action for SIDS. Various ways to do so is by providing financial support, technical resources, climate change adaptation and mitigation strategies and implementation of commitments. Every statement up until 2017 addresses challenges taking place above sea-level, essentially focusing on new approaches needed to protect human rights and address climate change challenges that create issues for humans. It is only until 2017 that the state of the oceans and concerns regarding climate change challenges affecting life systems below sea-level, are highlighted as an issue that calls for action. Through the lens of principle two of Climate Justice, there is a trend shift of the new approaches that AOSIS require during the 10-year period, starting from SIDS specific policy options that aim to protect human life and rights of SIDS populations, to gradually moving towards environmental rights that affects human life and rights globally, regardless of geographical location.

5.3 Standing commitments – deliver on what you promised.

This theme presents statements that have been argued for previously and urges the international community to follow through with international commitments made.

At the 16th session of the United Nations CSD, May 6th, 2008, AOSIS statements revealed a deep concern and distrust that the international community will in fact fulfil their internationally agreements:

"Despite the many efforts at the national level however, SIDS are concerned that the promises by the international community which emanated from the Mauritius Strategy are yet unfulfilled. 2010 marks the five-year review of the MSI. Are we to continue annually at the CSD to make this point? [...] Many SIDS require technical assistance in building institutions and drafting legislation to provide for development in marginalized areas. There is also need for the Global Environment Facility, bilateral donors and regional development banks to get actively involved in financing integrated rural

development programs. Let 2010 mark a year of reporting successes within the international community in not only standing by their promises but also having committed the necessary investment in SIDS to advance their sustainable development agendas." (AOSIS, 2008b:3).

SIDS' continued annual reminder at the CSD for the international community to fulfil their promises serves as a premise that reveals lack of expected implementation between 2005-2008. Principle three of Climate Justice supports SIDS' argumentation by calling for international action in accordance with climate negotiations, which in this case would be the promises made during the Mauritius Strategy of Implementation in 2005. The rhetorical question of annually repeating that promises are yet unfulfilled, reflects the unmet expectations of SIDS based on previous agreements. Presenting this to an audience that is already aware of their insufficient actions towards implementation of the Mauritius Strategy, reveals an imbalance of power between SIDS and the international community, as it seems to be the third year that SIDS are repeating that international promises are yet unfulfilled, going against principle three of Climate justice. The technical and financial assistance needed reiterates arguments covered under the previous theme (AOSIS, 2007a:1-2). Here, the same aid is explicitly needed to further the agenda of sustainable development, which again demonstrates that SIDS' sustainable development is dependent on the aid from the international community.

On February 23rd, 2009, during the SIDS Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting for the CSD-17, AOSIS highlighted that:

"While SIDS have largely made progress in formulating and implementing strategies and policies to advance sustainable development, we are faced with myriad challenges and constraints to implementation. It is becoming increasingly clear that our national and regional efforts must be complemented by the international community's response to close a gaping implementation gap" [...] We urge the international community to implement all commitments related to SIDS, particularly as it relates to capacity building, technology transfer and the provision of financial resource. Further delays risks endangering our very existence." (AOSIS, 2009a: 2).

In light of previous argumentation (AOSIS, 2008b:3), to address a gaping implementation gap, despite SIDS national efforts to bridge it, alongside progress in formulating and implementing strategies, implies a passivity from the international community to do their part. Although, there is no mention of any specific climate negotiation like principle three of Climate Justice

suggests, previous argumentation addressed the international community's unkept promises regarding the Mauritius Strategy of Implementation (AOSIS, 2008b: 3). Principle three of Climate Justice applied argues that action needs to be taken in accordance with climate negotiations. Since a declaration is not legally binding like a convention, the closest option to an international agreement is the international commitments made, as mentioned. The thesis is clearly about the implementation gap of sustainable development commitments that the international community are responsible for but have yet to take sufficient action to achieve. The argumentation is supported by previous research on the international aid SIDS need, which includes proper technology, accurate data and a strong budget (Kostakos, Zhang & Veening, 2014: 5). Further explanation addresses how international efforts usually do not have long lasting effects in providing financial support, innovative solutions and fulfilling SIDS needs (Baiamonte & Redaelli, 2017: 6, 16). The inadequate efforts of the international community are described as an "unwillingness to answer to" the moral considerations of climate change if it does not serve certain actors' self- interest (Brandstedt & Brüle, 2019: 788).

On March 7th, 2011, at the Opening Session of the Preparatory Committee Meeting of the Commission on Sustainable Development New York, AOSIS continued referring to earlier commitments:

"in so many instances we have been disheartened by the apparent abandonment of international promises made by the Barbados Program of Action, BPoA. How do you know if a car runs out of gas if you lack a gauge? Without baselines and benchmarks – without these very basic tools – how do we measure our progress and failures? [...] The international community must stop endless applying old coats of paint to an increasingly aging development vehicle. The buyer is no longer fooled, no matter how skillful the salesman (AOSIS, 2011a: 2).

As an international agreement, abandoning the Barbados Programme of Action, BPoA, is breaching principle three of Climate Justice. The metaphors in the argumentation demonstrate SIDS frustration of how the process of implementation has been poorly managed. There is an implication of indifference from the international community through the lack of baselines and benchmarks to implement the Program of Action for SIDS' sustainable development. The last arguments indicate an unwillingness from the international community to take appropriate measures for SIDS. Applying "old coats of paint" implies something beyond minimum effort, it suggests that the international community holds the power and privilege to not follow through with international promises, which again displays the power imbalance between SIDS and the

international community. Looking back at previous arguments displaying this kind of power imbalance, it is always in relation to uneven distribution of resources.

To conclude, the power imbalance identified in the first theme recurs here, demonstrated in SIDS annually reminding the international community to fulfil their promises as an example. Furthermore, the gaping implementation gap that SIDS pointed out reflects a passive stance from the international community to fulfil their commitments. The issue of implementation most often includes capacity building, financial aid and technical support and other concerns that prevail regardless of the many reminder's SIDS make. It indicates an unwillingness to follow through with commitments, which inevitably give rise to the question of why the international community commits to something they are unwilling to finish.

5.4 Summary of Findings & Analysis

The finding and analysis demonstrate the intrinsic relationship of resources and power, displayed in various ways, as the power imbalance between SIDS and the international community. Another interconnected relationship discovered is the one of SIDS economic and environmental vulnerabilities and how they serve as measurement for SIDS climate change vulnerabilities. Following this path, considering the significant power that the international community has over SIDS combined with the unwillingness to support SIDS in facing their climate change challenges, the future prospect of SIDS survival is exponentially decreasing, leading to a scenario filled with human rights violations caused by the international community.

On the other hand, the chances of SIDS surviving are measured likewise, through the international efforts to efficiently reduce GHG emissions, fully implement all commitments made and provide SIDS with all the necessary aid they require and have asked for all these years. For this alternative future prospect to take place, there needs to be consequences for the international community to fail following through with commitments.

One consequence emerging is the state of the oceans, a situation affecting all members of the international community, calling for a more urgent response to achieve the SGDs, specifically SGD14. The question arises of whether the international community will make the necessary changes in their approach towards saving the planet in time to save those most vulnerable - SIDS.

The findings show a trend shift throughout the ten-year period. Starting with the focus on the international community's responsibility to solve the issues they have caused, reflected in the

first theme. Following is the second theme, where striving for collective approaches to be developed for the global issues that serve the entire planet. Finally, the third theme is reminding the international community of the collective issues that still need to be remedied.

6. Conclusions

This section answers the research question of the thesis, reflects and discusses the findings and analysis as well as suggests considerations for future research.

6.1 Conclusions of AOSIS arguments on supportive international action

The three themes represent the most recurring arguments of AOSIS used to advocate for international action to support SIDS climate change challenges, answering the research question. The first theme covers the morality of climate debt and was characterized by its accusive patterns on holding the international community responsible for the unsustainable circumstance's SIDS face, reflecting the first Climate Justice principle of the theoretical framework. The second theme had a different moral view, focusing on taking action for shared global concerns by presenting policy options for SIDS, like principle two of Climate Justice argues. The most recurring ones were the need for financial support, capacity building, technology transfer and implementation. The third theme was a combination of both previous themes in terms of the moral features; pointing out insufficient measures, lack of action and the urgent need for action by referring explicitly to earlier commitments made but not implemented. This theme reflected the third principle of Climate Justice on following through with international agreements and climate negotiations.

The recurring pattern in the arguments boils down to the unfair treatment of SIDS by the international community, which could be traced to the power imbalance and the uneven distribution of resources between SIDS and the international community. One conclusion made is that, in the context of the international community supporting SIDS, action taken is not synonymous to a goal reached or progress made, as the insufficient action of the international community has been pointed out. The achievement of a goal is only established after a commitment or promise has been fully implemented, which have not been the case for SIDS. One example is the arguments on the lack of, and need for, technology transfer, which reflected the unwillingness of the international community to fulfil their commitments. This further demonstrates the position of power they hold over SIDS. The non-action displayed through the repetitive arguments of SIDS in urging the international community to proceed with implementation reflects a collision of SIDS long-term goals and the short-term self-interest of

actors in the international community (Brandstedt & Brüle, 2019:788). This explains the debate on the rules of intellectual property rights that benefit the developed countries but effectively stagnates the technology transfer to SIDS, an urgent need to survive climate change challenges (UNDP, 2010: 24).

6.2 Reflective discussion on findings & analysis

The objective of this thesis was to explore what arguments the alliance uses to advocate for international action to support SIDS in facing climate change. Reflecting on the previous research on climate refugees and the findings, interestingly, the AOSIS arguments did not cover the need for a legal 'climate refugee' framework nor did they promote the concept. Rather, the findings focused on the international community to follow through with commitments made, indicating that their circumstance could be solved with the resources mentioned but not provided. Focusing explicitly on the future vision and maintenance of SIDS brings up the question of why the most vulnerable states to climate change are not pursuing their need for future protection through a legal "climate refugee" framework.

Is it like Hartmann suggests, that the debate on 'climate refugees' emerged through the perceived threat and security problem through a European and US perspective (Hartmann, 2010: 233-234) rather than from SIDS citizens? It does seem unlikely for SIDS to support or even initiate a legal framework for 'climate refugees' when the narrative presents obstacles for international cooperation to continue to develop peacefully, with equity and efficiency towards climate change action (ibid: 233-234). Regardless of the need for a legal framework for 'climate refugees', the AOSIS statements between 2007-2017 do not use 'climate refugee' rhetoric. Rather, they exclusively focus on SIDS' needs for sustainable and sufficient resources for their populations to remain in their states and for their future to be secured. Focusing on other alternatives is to ignore the most important one for SIDS, which also explain their clarity and repetitiveness in addressing following through with international commitments made.

Considering the contributions of AOSIS in climate negotiations and their unique perspective as frontlines of climate change, refraining from indulging in the debate on 'climate refugees' could indicate that for SIDS, a solution is still possible to ensure future human life on islands to be sustainable.

The findings reveal that in order to secure SIDS future survival, the interconnectedness of climate change and sustainable development must serve as a reminder of the need for proportional, sufficient and relevant action, based on commitments made (AOSIS, 2015a: 1-2).

A common pattern of the AOSIS arguments that were used to advocate for international action stressed how important sustainable development is for SIDS as it is their only prospect for survival. The necessity of SID sustainable development provides context to their arguments on whether the international community understand the true meaning behind SIDS being a special case for sustainable development (AOSIS, 2015a), given the lack of adequate effort to support SIDS in their climate change challenges.

Another interesting observation is how urging the international community to develop a national plan of action on climate change that would speed up the implementation process (AOSIS, 2007a:1-2) directly addresses SDG 13 on taking urgent climate change action, developed nine years later (UN, 2021c). This brings up the question of how influential AOSIS have been in developing the SDG for Agenda 2030. What AOSIS specifically argue for, concerning the international climate change action, is the implementation of support and resources, technical assistance and capacity building during the 10-year time period.

Following the timeline of the AOSIS documents, the second theme reveals a change of trend that begins to emerge. From supporting SIDS specific sustainable development by suggesting international provision of financial aid, technology transfer and capacity building (AOSIS, 2007a), towards a striving to sustain life under water, as SDG 14 implies (AOSIS, 2015a). This global sustainable development concern is not exclusive to SIDS future but to the survival of planet earth.

However, it is unclear if AOSIS contributions have granted them the voice to sit at the table with equal opportunity to impact the future negotiations and agreements to come. Echoing the Theories of Climate Justice, it is the international community's responsibility to make sure AOSIS are included as their unique experience of climate change is invaluable to anticipate risks, develop resilient adaptation and mitigation strategies and navigate the vital future steps of sustainable development.

It is troubling that the international community displays such passivity in relation to the urgency that is climate change and SIDS increasing vulnerabilities to it. Especially since there is an interdependent relationship between SIDS as and the international community; without each other, the SDGs for agenda 2030 will not be achieved. To approach the issue correctly would be to prioritize sustainable development of SIDS to the level of fulfilment, which is the opposite of what has happened during 2007-2017. The implementation gaps result in a setback for all, creating a bigger distance between where we are as an international community and where we

have committed to be by 2030. This also means that our best shot of reaching our common goal is by using the development of SIDS as a measuring stick.

From a human rights lens and a climate justice lens, each right bearer has responsibilities. Being labelled as a "special case for sustainable development" seems beneficial at first but potentially categorizes SIDS as victims, which can also decrease their power to influence. As the international unwillingness to contribute to protecting human and environmental rights, this situation risks leading us to irreversible damage of earth's life systems.

In conclusion, the standing problem of failing to follow through with international commitments made seems to derive from developed countries' self-interest rather than moral duties, as Brandstedt and Brule have argued before (Brandstedt & Brüle, 2019:788). Using the perspective of the fifth premise of Baxi's TCJ, it urges new approaches to be developed for human and other species survival as old utilitarian approaches have not been sufficient to spark international climate change action. Supporting SIDS from a perspective of self-interest would be beneficial as they have the most expertise to contribute for sustainable development to be achieved. The problem now withstanding is the AOSIS agency, including the aspect of power imbalance, and whether the international community's powerful member states value sustainable development enough and in time, to save the future of human rights and the future of the planet. Choosing to do so, or not, would, according to the premises and principles of Climate Justice, be reflected in how the future survival of SIDS is prioritized.

6.3 Considerations for future research

Future research could involve exploring more of the international community's reasons for not following through with their commitments. If intellectual property rights rules present a conflict of interest between developed and developing countries about technology transfer, what other kinds of conflict of interest lies between strong partnerships for SIDS sustainable development? Which actors in the international community have the legal responsibility to follow through for SIDS and how do they relate to their commitments? Is there a solution that creates a win-win scenario for all parties committed to striving for SIDS sustainable development? If so, what does that look like in theory and practice? If not, what sacrifices are the international community willing to make in order to fulfil the most SDGs most relevant to SIDS by 2030?

Previous SIDS statements claim issues of survival and equity are the root cause of their limited resources and weak life support systems (Slade, 2007:215). Future research should seek out the obstacles to SIDS equity, exploring reasons why AOSIS are still struggling to be included with

equal opportunity to participate and impact climate negotiations. One alternative is to look at SIDS representation in media coverage under climate negotiations, if they are publicly given credit for their contributions and if their agency has increased in proportion to their contributions. Another alternative would be conducting research on the process of SIDS participation, as an observational field study measuring SIDS equity during international negotiations. Using the criteria of; time dedicated to SIDS during international events; rights and responsibilities of SIDS during international events; equal opportunity for AOSIS to partake in decision-making, contribute and be fully considered in international events concerning climate change and sustainable development. In combination with, or separate from the suggestion of observational field study, is the alternative to conduct research that measures the progress of the international community's implementation of the most relevant SDG to implement for SIDS, which is SDG 12, 13 and 14, though a five-year review between 2016-2021 of Agenda 2030.

7. References

7.1 Empirical Sources

- AOSIS (2007). Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting for the CSD15 New York 26 February – 1 March 2007. Retrieved 2021-02-28, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/tuvalu_28feb_cc.pdf
- 2. AOSIS (2008a). *AOSIS Statement Opening of CSD-16 5th May 2008*. Retrieved 2021-02-19, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/aosis_5may_opening.pdf
- 3. AOSIS (2008b). *United Nations Commission on Sustainable Development (UNCSD) 16/17 AOSIS statement on Rural Development Wednesday May 6, 2008.* Retrieved 2021-02-19, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/aosis_6may_ruraldevelopment.pdf
- 4. AOSIS (2008c). AOSIS Statement Opening of SIDS Day CSD-16 12th May 2008. Retrieved 2021-02-20, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/aosis_12may_sids.pdf
- 5. AOSIS (2009a). *During the SIDS session*, 23rd February, 2009. Retrieved 2021-02-23, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/AOSIS_on_SIDS.pdf
- AOSIS (2009b). At the Agriculture Plenary session of the Intergovernmental Preparatory Meeting for the 17th Meeting of the Commission on Sustainable Development 24 February 2009. Retrieved 2021-02-23, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/AOSIS_Jamaica.pdf
- 7. AOSIS (2010). Eighteenth Session, Commission on Sustainable Development SIDS Day 10 May 2010, New York. Retrieved 2021-02-27, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/Small_Island.pdf
- 8. AOSIS (2011a). During the Opening Session of the Preparatory Committee Meeting of the Commission on Sustainable Development New York, 07 March 2011. Retrieved 2021-02-26, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/17886aosis-opening.pdf
- 9. AOSIS (2011b). During the Opening Session of the 2nd Inter-Sessional Meeting of the United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development New York, 15 December 2011. Retrieved 2021-02-26, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/18785aosis.pdf
 10.
 - AOSIS (2013). 5th Session of the OWG-SDG on Macroeconomic Policy November 26, 2013. Retrieved 2021-02-27, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/5263aosis3.pdf
- 11. AOSIS (2014a). Stocktaking Session for the Intergovernmental Negotiations on the post-2015 development agenda 19 January 2014. Retrieved 2021-02-25, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/12139aosis.pdf
- 12. AOSIS (2014b). On Means of Implementation/Global Partnership for Sustainable Development for the 11th Session of Open Working Group on Sustainable Development 9 May 2014. Retrieved 2021-02-25, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/9534aosis4.pdf
- 13. AOSIS (2015a). Talking points: Session on Means of Implementation on the post-2015 development agenda Targets 21 April 2015. Retrieved 2021- 02-28, from

https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/13821aosis.pdf

- 14. AOSIS (2015b). High Level Political Forum on Sustainable Development under the Auspices of ECOSOC Annual Ministerial Review 1 July 2015. Retrieved 2021-02-25, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/152032015.07.01%20(AOSIS)%20 General%20Statement-FINAL.pdf
- 15. AOSIS (2017). Preparatory Meeting of the United Nations Conference to Support the Implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 14: Conserve and sustainably use the oceans, seas and marine resources for sustainable development 15 February 2017. Retrieved 2021-02-25, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/23196AOSIS%20Statement.pdf

7.2 General References

- 16. Agueda Corneloup, I. & Mol, A. (2014). Small island developing states and international climate change negotiations: the power of moral "leadership". *International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics, Vol.14*(3), pp. 281-297. Doi: 10.1007/s10784-013-9227-0
- 17. AOSIS (2021). About Us. Retrieved 2021-02-28, from https://www.aosis.org/about/
- Ashe, J, W., Van Lierop, R. & Cherian, A. (1999). The role of the Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS) in the negotiation of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC. *Natural Resources Forum, August 1999, Vol.23*(3), pp.209-220. https://doi-org.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/10.1111/j.1477-8947.1999.tb00910.x
- 19. Azar, C. (2009). Makten över klimatet. Leck: Bonnier pocket.
- 20. Azungah, T. (2018). Qualitative research: Deductive and inductive approaches to data analysis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18(4), pp. 383-400. Doi: 10.1108/QRJ-D-18-00035
- 21. Baiamonte, V. & Redaelli, C. (2017). Small Islands Developing States and Climate Change: An Overview of Legal and Diplomatic Strategies. *Journal of Public and International Affairs*, 6.
- 22. Baxi, U. (2016). Towards a climate change justice theory? *Journal of Human Rights and the Environment*, 7(1), pp. 7-31. http://dx.doi.org/10.4337/jhre.2016.01.01
- 23. Bell, D. (2013). Climate change and human rights. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews*, 4(3), 159-170.
- 24. Benet, W. J. (2013). Managing the polarities of democracy: A theoretical framework for positive social change. *Journal of Social Change*, *5*(1), Retrieved from https://search-proquest-com.ezproxy.ub.gu.se/scholarly-journals/managing-polarities-democracy-theoretical/docview/1842488569/se-2?accountid=11162
- 25. Betzold, C., Castro, P., & Weiler, F. (2012). AOSIS in the UNFCCC negotiations: From unity to fragmentation? *Climate Policy*, *12*(5), pp. 591-613. DOI: 10.1080/14693062.2012.692205
 - Betzold, C. (2015). Adapting to climate change in small island developing states. *Climatic Change*, 133(3), pp. 481-489. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-015-1408-0

- 26. Boréus, K. (2019). Argumentationsanalys. In K. Boréus & G. Bergström (Ed.), *Textens mening och makt.* Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- 27. Brandstedt, E., & Brüle, B. (2019). Towards a Theory of Pure Procedural Climate Justice. *Journal of Applied Philosophy*, *36*(5), pp. 785-799. DOI: 10.1111/japp.12357
- 28. Bryman, A. (2016). Social Research Methods. Oxford University Press: New York.
- 29. Caney, S. (2008). Human rights, climate change, and discounting. *Environmental Politics*, *17*(4), pp. 536-555. DOI: 10.1080/09644010802193401
- 30. Caney, S. (2009). Climate change, human rights and moral thresholds. In M. Robinson & S. Humphreys (Ed.), *Human Rights and Climate Change* (pp. 69-90). Cambridge University Press.
- 31. CSD (2008). Commission on Sustainable Development Report on the sixteenth session. Retrieved 2021-02-20, from https://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=E/CN.17/2008/17(SUPP)&Lang=E
- 32. Elson, D. (2019). Push No One Behind. *Journal of Globalization and Development*, Vol. 9(2), pp. 1-12. DOI:10.1515/jgd-2018-0026.
- 33. Gibbs, R, G. (2018). Analyzing Qualitative Data. London 55 City Road: SAGE Publications.
- 34. Graham, S., Barnett, J., Fincher, R., Mortreux, C. & Hurlimann, A. (2015). Towards fair local outcomes in adaptation to sea-level rise. *Climatic Change*, *130*(3), pp. 411-424. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-014-1171-7
- 35. Hartmann, B. (2010). Rethinking climate refugees and climate conflict: Rhetoric, reality and the politics of policy discourse. *Journal of International Development*, 22(2), pp. 233-246. DOI: 10.1002/jid.1676
- 36. Hsiao, J. (2017). Climate Refugee and Disappearing States: In Need for a New Legal Regime? *Journal of Cultural and Religious Studies*, *5*(5), pp. 268-276. DOI: 10.17265/2328-2177/2017.05.005
- 37. ICCPR (1966). *International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights*. Retrieved 2021-05-13, from https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx
- 38. IPCC (2007a). *Climate Change 2007 Synthesis Report*. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/02/ar4_syr_full_report.pdf
- 39. IPPC (2007b). *Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability*. Cambridge University Press. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2018/03/ar4_wg2_full_report.pdf
- 40. Kostakos, G., Veening, W. & Zhang, T. (2014). *Climate Security and Justice for Small Island Developing States: An Agenda for Action* (policy Brief 9). The Hague Institute for Global Justice. https://www.thehagueinstituteforglobaljustice.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/PB9-Climate-security.pdf

- 41. Leth, G. & Thurén, T. (2000). *Källkritik för Internet*. Rapport 177. Stockholm: Styrelsen för psykologiskt försvar.
- 42. Mary Robinson Foundation (2020). *Principles of Climate Justice*. Retrieved 2021-03-09, from https://www.mrfcj.org/principles-of-climate-justice/
- 43. McAdam, J. (2012). *Climate Change, Forced Migration, and International Law.* Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- 44. McCracken, G. (1988). The Long Interview. Los Angeles: SAGE Publications
- 45. Meikle, M., Wilson, J., & Jafry, T. (2016). Climate justice: Between Mammon and Mother Earth. *International Journal of Climate Change Strategies and Management*, 8(4), pp. 488-504. DOI: 10.1108/IJCCSM-06-2015-0089
- 46. Ourbak, T. & Magnan, A. (2018). The Paris Agreement and climate change negotiations: Small Islands, big players. *Regional Environmental Change*, *18*(8), pp. 2201-2207. DOI: 10.1007/s10113-017-1247-9
- 47. Parks, B. & Roberts, J. (2010). Climate Change, Social Theory and Justice. *Theory, Culture & Society*, 27(2-3), pp. 134-166. DOI: 10.1177/0263276409359018
- 48. Pineda, J, E. (2018). The 'Disappearing Island State' Phenomenon. A Challenge to the Universality of the International Law of the Sea. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, *SSRN Electronic Journal*, *Vol.* 12(5), pp. 1-17. https://doi.org/10.2139/SSRN.3363933
- 49. Richardson, R. B. (2009). *Belize and Climate Change: The Costs of Inaction*. (Human Development Issues Paper). United Nations Development Programme. Michigan State University.
- 50. Ronneberg, E. (2016). Small Islands and the Big Issue: Climate Change and the role of the Alliance of Small Island States. In K. Grey, R. Tarasofsky, C. Carlane & E. Ronneberg (Eds.), *The Oxford Handbook of International Climate Change Law* (p. 762-774). Oxford University Press.
- 51. Saiz, I. & Donald, K. (2017). Tackling inequality through the Sustainable Development Goals: Human rights in practice. *The International Journal of Human Rights*, 21(8), pp. 1029-1049. DOI: 10.1080/13642987.2017.1348696
- 52. Schaefer, S. & Alvesson, M. (2020). Epistemic Attitudes and Source Critique in Qualitative Research. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 29(1), pp. 33-45. DOI: 10.1177/1056492617739155
- 53. Seale, C., Gobo, G., Gubrium, F, J. & Silverman, D. (2007). *Qualitative Research Practice*. London: SAGE Publications.
- 54. Slade, T. (2007). Climate change: The human rights implications for small island developing states. *Environmental Policy and Law, 37*(2-3), pp. 216-223.

- 55. Storr, C. (2016). Islands and the South: Framing the Relationship between International Law and Environmental Crisis. *European Journal of International Law*, 27(2), pp. 519-540. DOI: 10.1093/ejil/chw026
- 56. UN General Assembly (1948). *Universal Declaration of Human Rights*. Retrieved 2021- 03-30, from https://www.un.org/en/about-us/universal-declaration-of-human-rights
- 57. UN General Assembly (2010). Outcome document of the High-level Review Meeting on the Implementation of the Mauritius Strategy for the Further Implementation of the Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States (A/RES/65/2). Retrieved 2021-05-12, from United Nations. https://undocs.org/pdf?symbol=en/A/RES/65/2
- 58. UN General Assembly (2014). SIDS Accelerated Modalities of Action (SAMOA) Pathway (A/RES/69/15). Retrieved 2021-05-12, from United Nations. https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ares69d15_en.pdf
- 59. UN (2021a). *Decisions by Topic: Small Island Developing States*. Retrieved 2021-02-28, from https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/topics/sids/decisions
- 60. UN (2021b). *Goal 12: Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns*. Retrieved 2021-02-21, from https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-consumption-production/
- 61. UN (2021c). *13 Take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts**. Retrieved 2021-03-03, from https://sdgs.un.org/goals/goal13
- 62. UN (2021d). *Universal Values Principle Two: Leave No One Behind*. Retrieved 2021-03-09, from https://unsdg.un.org/2030-agenda/universal-values/leave-no-one-behind
- 63. UN (2005). Report of the International Meeting to Review the Implementation of the Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States. UN: Port Louis, Mauritius.
- 64. UNDP (2010). *The Outcomes of Copenhagen: The Negotiations & the Accord.* Retrieved 2021-02-27, from https://www.cccep.ac.uk/publication/the-outcomes-of-copenhagen-the-negotiations-and-the-accord/
- 65. UNDP (2017). *Small Island nations at the frontline of climate action*. Retrieved 2021-03-30, from https://www.undp.org/content/undp/en/home/presscenter/pressreleases/2017/09/18/small-island-nations-at-the-frontline-of-climate-action-.html
- 66. UN Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (2015). *Integrating the three dimensions of sustainable development: A framework and tools*. Retrieved 2021-01-03, from https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/Integrating%20the%20three%20dimensions%20of%20sustainable%20development%20A%20framework.pdf
- 67. UNFCCC (2015). *Paris Agreement*. Retrieved 2021-02-21, from https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf
- 68. UN-OHRLLS (2017). Small Island Developing States in Numbers: Updated Climate Change Edition 2017. Office of the High Representative for the Least Developed Countries,

Landlocked Developing Countries and Small Island Developing States. https://unohrlls.org/custom-content/uploads/2017/09/SIDS-In-Numbers_Updated-Climate-Change-Edition-2017.pdf

- 69. UN-OHRLLS (2021). *Bureau of the Alliance of Small States*. Retrieved 2021-02-03, from https://www.un.org/ohrlls/content/bureau-aosis
- 70. Vanderheiden, S. (2013). What Justice Theory and Climate-Change Politics Can Learn from Each Other. *PS: Political Science and Politics*, 46(1), pp. 18-22. DOI: 10.1017/S1049096512001448
- 71. Von Tigerstrom, B. (2005). Small island developing states and international trade: special challenges in the global partnership for development. *Melbourne Journal of International Law*, 6(2), pp. 402-436.
- 72. Wong, P. (2011). Small island developing states. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: *Climate Change*, 2(1), pp. 1-6. DOI: 10.1002/wcc.84
- 73. Zellentin, A. (2015). Climate justice, small island developing states & cultural loss. *Climatic Change*, *133*(3), pp. 491-498. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-015-1410-6